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OPINION AND ORDER
BY THE COMMISSION:


Before the Commission for consideration and disposition is a Joint Settlement Agreement (Settlement) filed on September 4, 2008, by UGI Utilities, Inc.  (UGI or the Company) and the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff (Prosecutory Staff).  


History of the Proceeding


On Friday, March 26, 2004, at approximately 7:48 PM, UGI received an emergency telephone call from a male resident at 403 South Queen Street in Lancaster, Pennsylvania reporting a gas leak in the basement.  A UGI call center employee told the resident to evacuate the premises, forwarded the information to the UGI dispatcher who dispatched a UGI serviceman to the location.  Consistent with its existing policy, UGI did not call a 911 center to report the call.  


A UGI serviceman arrived at 403 South Queen Street at approximately 8:09 PM, told the resident to evacuate the premises and entered the house with his leak detection device, a combustible gas instrument, two flashlights, his cell phone and some other tools.  After entering the home and taking gas readings the serviceman entered the basement to view the meter set.  While the serviceman was in the basement a gas explosion occurred.  Although the gas explosion did not cause a subsequent fire or injure any other parties, portions of the basement were scorched and the UGI serviceman sustained burns to his hands and face.  The UGI serviceman was subsequently taken to the hospital for treatment and recovered from his injuries.  


At approximately 8:23 PM, a Lancaster 911 center dispatcher telephoned UGI’s publicized emergency 800 number to report the explosion.  After attempting to contact the UGI serviceman, UGI dispatched a second investigator to the location.  The second serviceman arrived between 8:35 and 8:40 PM.  After checking adjacent buildings for gas, the second serviceman located the bricked-over curb shut-off valve, removed the bricks and turned off the gas at approximately 8:55 PM.  A full UGI work crew arrived at the scene shortly after the second UGI serviceman.  Approximately one hour and twenty minutes after the explosion the UGI Claims Manager informed the UGI dispatcher that he was on his way to the location.  Settlement at 3-5.


The Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff filed a Formal Complaint (Complaint) against UGI on August 7, 2006, pertaining to the explosion described above.  On August 28, 2006, UGI filed an Answer admitting most of the factual allegations in the Complaint but contesting any violation of Federal or State gas safety rules or regulations had occurred.


By Opinion and Order adopted on December 4, 2008, the Commission issued the Settlement for comment.  No comments were filed
Discussion


Prosecutory Staff initiated a Formal Investigation of the incident to review the Company’s actions and business practices in relation to the incident.  The Formal Investigation was conducted pursuant to Subsection 331(a) of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. § 331(a), and Section 3.113 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (Regulations), 52 Pa. Code § 3.113.


Had this matter been litigated, Prosecutory Staff may have alleged that UGI committed the following acts or omissions in its treatment of the incident: 


(a)
UGI failed to classify the emergency as one that would require a 911 center to be called immediately once the Company was notified that escaping gas was occurring inside a residence.  If proven this is a violation of 49 C.F.R. 
§ 192.605(a) with reference to §§ 192.615(a)(i), (a)(8), and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33.

(b)
UGI failed to respond promptly and to immediately dispatch sufficient personnel once notified by the 911 center that there had been an explosion.  If proven this is a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.605(a) with reference to §§ 192.615(a)(3)(iii), (a)(4), and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33.

(c)
UGI failed to provide intrinsically safe equipment and protective clothing to properly protect the serviceman.  If proven this is a violation of 52 Pa. Code § 59.33.

(d)
UGI did not notify or plan responses with the 911 center as evidenced by the fact that the 911 center dispatcher had to call UGI’s general emergency number rather than a direct line to the UGI dispatcher.  If proven this is a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.605(a) with reference to §§ 192.615(a)(8) and (c) and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33.


(e)
UGI’s dispatching procedures during an emergency consisted of a list of contacts to call rather than detailed emergency response dispatching procedures as evidenced by the lack of regimented communication to essential personnel.  Prosecutory Staff would have asserted that UGI’s emergency procedures appear to be written for normal hours of operations and assuming personnel are always available.  If proven this is a violation of 49 C.F.R. 
§ 192.605(a) with reference to §§ 192.615 and 52 Pa. Code 
§ 59.33.
Settlement at 5-7.



Following the Complaint and Answer to the Complaint, the Parties, in accordance with 52 Pa. Code § 3.113(b)(3), entered into discussions regarding settling the matter without the need for an on-the-record proceeding.  Those discussions resulted in the proposed Settlement.  The Parties aver that the proposed Settlement is in the public interest and request Commission approval of the Settlement.  The proposed terms of the Settlement are set forth below.  Pursuant to our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  However, the Commission must review proposed settlements to determine whether the terms are in the public interest.  Pa. PUC v. Philadelphia Gas Works, M-00031768 (January 7, 2004).  
Terms of the Settlement Agreement



The Settlement provides that:

(a)
UGI has agreed to pay to the Commission, by certified check, a civil penalty in the amount of $5,000.00 within twenty (20) days of the date of the Commission’s order approving the agreement.  In addition, UGI shall not claim or include any portion of this amount in any future rate proceeding.

(b)
UGI will replace the existing cell phones used by non-supervisory emergency responders (approximately 300) with intrinsically safe cell phones over a three-year phase-in period in equal installments.  In each year of the phase-in period UGI shall replace one-third of the cell phones used by non-supervisory emergency responders during the first ninety days of each year.  The cost of the cell phones is approximately $90,000 and the Company shall not claim or include any portion of the first $90,000 it spends on intrinsically safe cell phones pursuant to this Agreement in any future rate proceeding.


(c)
UGI will offer and provide gas safety education programs to fourth and fifth graders in elementary and middle schools in its service territory using material published by the National Energy Foundation or other comparable entity at an estimated cost of $25,000.  UGI will provide Commission personnel the opportunity to participate in these presentations.


(d)
UGI will adopt the revised dispatching procedures for emergencies attached in Appendix D of the Agreement.


(e)
UGI will continue to train all UGI emergency responders on an annual basis using Operator Qualification tests.


(f)
UGI will continue to roll-out its Field Level Asset Management Environment (FLAME) system that, among other things, provides UGI field employees with maps of valve locations.  


(g)
UGI will conduct a review of the equipment it issues to emergency responders for use in potential gas leak investigations to confirm the equipment is intrinsically safe, and will submit a report of its review to the Commission within 60 days of the signing of the Agreement.



(h)
UGI will complete the distribution of a flyer it has developed addressing gas emergency response issues to all 911 centers within its service territory.


(i)
UGI has scheduled meetings with all 911 centers in its service territory to discuss emergency procedures and has, and will, continue to notify Commission gas safety personnel of the dates of the scheduled meetings.

(j)
UGI has recently submitted a pipeline awareness plan to the Commission that details the extensive gas safety awareness activities UGI conducts, and is willing to consider any staff recommendation concerning how those activities may be improved.

Settlement at 9-11.



The factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Code and the Commission’s Regulations are delineated in the Policy Statement found at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201.  We are reminded that the Policy Statement is only a guide and that the parties in settled cases should be afforded flexibility in reaching amicable resolutions to complaints and other matters so long as the settlement is in the public interest.   52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(2).  The factors and standards that will be considered include the following:  (1) whether the conduct at issue was of a serious nature; (2) whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future; (3) the number of customers affected and the duration of the violation; (4) the compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation; (5) whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission's investigation; and, (6) other relevant factors.


Since the Settlement was primarily negotiated under the previous Rosi standards, we will discuss the facts of the Settlement as they pertain to the Policy Statement.


The first criteria are whether the conduct and the consequences of the conduct are serious.  When the conduct is of a serious nature, such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as errors in administrative filings or other technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.  The conduct at issue is of the most serious nature as it deals with public safety.  While no lives were lost in this case the potential for catastrophic loss and injury was extremely high.  The agreed upon corrective actions would result in a preliminary cost to UGI of $120,000, of which the civil penalty of $5,000 represents a minor part.


Next, we examine UGI’s efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future.  As a result of the March 26, 2004 explosion, UGI undertook gas safety education programs in local schools, revised its dispatching procedures for emergencies, reviewed the equipment it issues to emergency responders, addressed emergency response issues with all 911 centers, revised its awareness planning and reviewed its field mapping system in order to provide current valve locations to emergency responders.  These actions, we feel, will greatly enhance UGI’s future response emergency response capabilities.


The number of customers affected by this incident was only one, however, the potential for far greater damage was present.



UGI’s compliance history and cooperation with the Commission’s investigations is considered very favorable.


The size of UGI would warrant a considerable penalty in order to deter future violations.  While $5,000 is not considered substantial, coupled with the expense of the overall corrective actions to be accomplished of over $120,000, the net effect of the Settlement is substantial.  Not only does UGI bear the expense of these actions, but, the corresponding improvement in emergency response should greatly improve the overall gas safety environment in the communities it serves.
Conclusion 



As noted, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  52 Pa. Code § 5.231.  The Parties herein have provided the Commission with sufficient information upon which to thoroughly consider the terms of the instant Settlement Agreement.  We feel that the Settlement Agreement effectively addresses the issues which arose during the course of the investigation and avoids the expense of litigation and possibility of appeals.  Accordingly, we find that the proposed Settlement Agreement is in the public interest and merits approval; THEREFORE,


IT IS ORDERED:



1.
That the Joint Settlement Agreement entered into between UGI Utilities, Inc. and the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff, filed on September 4, 2008, is approved.


2.
That within twenty (20) days from the entry date of this Opinion and Order, UGI shall pay a civil penalty of $5,000 by check or money order made payable to:





Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission





P.O. Box 3265





Harrisburg, Pa. 17120



3.
That a copy of this Opinion and Order shall be served on the Office of Consumer Advocate, the Office of Small Business Advocate, and the Public Utility Commission’s Bureau of Administrative Services Fiscal Division.


4.
That upon payment of the civil penalty, the Secretary of the Commission shall mark this proceeding closed.







BY THE COMMISSION,








James J. McNulty








Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  February 5, 2009
ORDER ENTERED:  February 6, 2009
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